THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA

ANNUAL REPORT

ANNUAL REPORT

of

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA

for the year 1985-86

CANBERRA

The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia
1986



CONTENTS

Executive Officers 1985-86	4
Committees of the Academy	5
The Academy and its Objectives	8
Academy Activities	10
1. Research	10
2. Annual Symposia	11
3. Annual Lecture	11
4. International Activities	11
(a) AASSREC	12
(b) Chinese-Australian Exchange Scheme	12
5. Joint Academy Activities	13
6. Newsletter	13
7. Administration	13
Publications Sponsored or Assisted by the Academy	14
Fellows of the Academy	17
List of Fellows by Panel and Discipline	39
Presidents of the Academy	41
Obituaries	42
Financial Statements	50

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 1985-86

President
The Hon. Dr J.E. Isaac

Executive Director and Secretary
Professor R.G. Neale*
Dr D.W. Rawson

Honorary Treasurer Dr Stuart Harris

Administrative Officer Mrs Erica Harriss

Secretary Mrs Jenny Nolan

Auditors Mr N.P. Ffrench Mr R.W. Staite

Address GPO Box 1956 Canberra, ACT 2601 Telephone: (062) 491788

COMMITTEES OF THE ACADEMY 1985-86

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE The Hon. Dr J.E. Isaac

Professor R.T. Appleyard Professor E. Campbell Professor K.J. Hancock Professor J.H. Pollard Dr D.W. Rawson Dr A. Richardson Dr J.J. Smolicz

Dr Stuart Harris (Honorary Treasurer)
The Executive Director

FINANCE COMMITTEE
The President (Chairman)

The Honorary Treasurer The Executive Director

Professor F.H.G. Gruen Professor R.L. Mathews

MEMBERSHIP COMMITTEE The President (Convener)

Professor R.G. Brown Professor P.J. Lloyd Professor O.O.G.M. MacDonagh Professor J.G. Wallace Professor P.L. Waller

STANDING RESEARCH COMMITTEE

The President (Chairman)

Professor M.G. Clyne Professor F.H.G. Gruen Professor J.W. McCarty Professor L. Mann The Honorary Treasurer
The Executive Director

PUBLICATIONS COMMITTEE

Mr A.H. Boxer Professor J.W. McCarty Professor A.G.L. Shaw

AUSTRALIA AND THE SOUTH-WEST PACIFIC PROJECT Professor R.G. Ward (Chairman)

Dr E.K. Fisk

The Executive Director

HEALTH AND BEHAVIOUR PROJECT Dr A.S. Henderson (Chairman)

Professor S.H. Lovibond Professor R.W. Russell Professor G. Singer The Executive Director

1986 ANNUAL SYMPOSIUM The Hon. Dr J.E. Isaac (Chairman)

Professor R.M. Berndt Professor J.C. Caldwell Professor F.H.G. Gruen Dr C.A. Hughes The Executive Director

CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE OF THE AUSTRALIAN ACADEMIES (ASSA MEMBERS)

The Hon. Dr J.E. Isaac Dr D.W. Rawson

Dr Stuart Harris

PANEL COMMITTEES

Panel A (Anthropology, Demography, Geography, Sociology, Linguistics)

Professor M.G. Clyne (Chairman)

Dr C. Berndt Professor J.C. Caldwell Dr J.M. Powell Professor R.G. Ward Professor J.S. Western

Panel B (Economics, Economic History, Business Administration)

Professor F.H.G. Gruen (Chairman)

Mr A.H. Boxer Dr R.G. Gregory Professor P.D. Groenewegen Professor F.G. Jarrett Professor F.K. Wright

Panel C (History, Law, Political Science, Social Philosophy)

Professor J.W. McCarty (Chairman)

Professor E.M. Campbell Professor G.J. Davison Professor O.O.G.M. MacDonagh Dr D.W. Rawson Professor E.S. Richards

Panel D (Education, Psychology, Social Medicine)

Professor L. Mann (Chairman)

Professor N.T. Feather Professor P.H. Glow Professor K.J. Marjoribanks Professor R.W. Russell Professor R.J.W. Selleck Dr J.J. Smolicz Professor D. Spearritt

BRANCH CONVENERS

Professor W.R. Geddes (NSW) Dr A. Richardson (WA) Professor N.D. Harper (Vic) Professor H.W. Arndt (ACT) Professor J.S. Western (Qld) Professor P.H. Glow (SA)

THE ACADEMY AND ITS OBJECTIVES

The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia (prior to July 1971 the Social Science Research Council of Australia) is a corporate body of social scientists. Its functions are:

- (i) to encourage the advancement of the social sciences in Australia;
- (ii) to act as a co-ordinating group for the promotion of research and teaching in the social sciences;
- (iii) to foster research and to subsidise the publication of studies in the social sciences;
- (iv) to encourage and assist in the formation of other national associations or institutions for the promotion of the social sciences or any branch of them;
- (v) to act as the Australian national member of international organizations connected with social sciences; and
- (vi) to act as a consultant and adviser in regard to social sciences.

For the origins and development of the Academy, see the 1975-76 (or an earlier) *Annual Report*, and K.S. Cunningham: *The Social Science Research Council of Australia* 1942-1952, SSRC, Canberra, 1967.

Each member, on election to the Academy, takes the title of Fellow. As at 30 June 1986 there were 197 Fellows of the Academy. New Fellows are elected by postal ballot on the recommendation of the Membership Committee. The Academy's functions are discharged by an Annual General Meeting and the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee consists of the President, the Treasurer and seven other members all elected at the Annual General Meeting.

Since 1953 the Australian Government has provided an annual grant to assist the Academy to meet administrative and travel costs. In 1985-86 the grant was \$88,830.

Four Panels, each representing related groups of disciplines as described on page 7, serve the Academy with advice relating to membership matters, the selection of new research topics and general policy issues. Panel activities are supplemented by assemblies of Fellows on a State basis which meet from time to time in the various capital cities to discuss issues of current significance to particular States or other matters referred to them by the Executive.

The Academy has put much emphasis upon its Major Research Projects, which are described in the next section of this Report. They have stimulated new

research, both among the Fellows of the Academy and throughout universities and research institutes in Australia. They have also helped to clarify issues of national significance and have at times involved close collaboration with government officials and departments at both Federal and State levels. This interaction has been essential to the progress of these Projects, particularly in the cases of the Projects on the Aborigines in Australian Society and Immigrants in Australia.

The Academy also pursues a number of shorter-term enterprises which aim to study topics assessed to be of major significance, both academically and nationally. These form the basis of the Academy's annual programme of seminars and workshops, which have been playing an increasingly important role over the past three or four years. Further details also follow in the next section of this *Report*.

Research is not, however, the only function of the Academy: it also has a role to play as a consultant and adviser and in promoting and encouraging 'the advancement of the social sciences' both in Australia and abroad. In these wider roles the Academy appreciates its collaboration with the Academies of Science, the Technological Sciences and the Humanities through the deliberations of the Consultative Committee of the Australian Academies and in joint seminars and workshops. It also seeks a more effective liaison with government departments and research organizations which are prime users of social science concepts, data and methodologies.

The Academy sustains its international activities through its affiliation with the Association of Asian Social Science Research Councils (AASSREC) but unfortunately had to withdraw from its affiliation with the International Federation of Social Science Organizations (IFSSO) because of financial stringencies. A new venture of considerable significance initiated in 1980 was continued: an interchange scheme between the Australian Academies of the Social Sciences and the Humanities, acting jointly, and the Chinese Academy of the Social Sciences (see page 12). The Academy expresses its appreciation of the Australian Government's continued support for this scheme.

ACADEMY ACTIVITIES

1. RESEARCH

Four Major Projects have been completed by the Academy and its predecessor, the Social Science Research Council of Australia: Women in Australia, Taxation in Australia, Aborigines in Australian Society and Immigrants in Australia. Explorations for further projects continue in two areas: Australia and the Pacific Islands, and Health and Behaviour.

The results of each of the first two projects were produced as a single volume. The *Aborigines* Project was a much larger and longer-term enterprise which generated twelve research monographs and three major synoptic volumes by the Project's Director, Dr Charles Rowley. This series covers a wide range of topics including the history of Aborigines since European settlement in Australia, their settlement patterns in both remote and urban areas, their economic status, their health and their morbidity. In 1984-85 Dr Rowley continued studies of Aboriginal communities.

In the *Immigration* Project, ten monographs were published. These include studies of selected ethnic groups, immigrant communities, patterns of income and expenditure, political attitudes and behaviour, and the impacts of professional and highly skilled immigrants in Australian society. This project did much to stimulate research of ethnic communities in Australia and in other issues of vital concern to immigrants such as the series *Studies in the Education of Migrant Children*, which was financially supported by the Commonwealth Department of Education. Under the title *The Educational Experience of Sydney High School Children*, the first Report was produced in 1979, the second in 1981, and the third in 1983.

A project on Australia and the Pacific Islands led to a Workshop, involving administrators and academics from Fiji, Samoa and the Solomon Islands, as well as from Australian universities and relevant departments of state, in June 1986. This three-day Workshop considered a range of political, economic and social questions concerning relations between Australia and the island states and a report is being prepared. A group of Fellows has continued to develop a project on Health and Behaviour, dealing with the very major influence of social conditions and attitudes on health. This is expected to lead to a major volume and perhaps to continued Academy involvement in this subject. Meetings have also been held to plan work on National Identity, bringing together demographic, linguistic, psychological and other influences on the development of national identity, and in particular of an Australian identity.

A number of other projects are being actively pursued and will take shape during the remainder of 1986.

The Academy also continued its sponsorship of 'Trend Reports'. The three-

volume Surveys of Australian Economics was followed by the publication of the second 'Trend Report', Surveys of Australian Political Science. The Psychology volume, entitled Australian Psychology: Review of Research has also been completed. Reports in Education and Geography are in press, while work continues on a Report in Law. Other studies being considered are Social Anthropology, Sociology, Demography and Linguistics. The series is being published by Allen & Unwin, Sydney.

2. ANNUAL SYMPOSIA

The Annual Symposium held at the Annual General Meeting in November 1985 was on the topic Equality of Opportunity Reconsidered. Papers presented were:

- Equity and Standards in Education: Is there a Conflict? (Professor Dame Leonie Kramer and Mr Hugh Hudson)
- The Role of Affirmative Action in Achieving Equality of Opportunity (The Hon. Senator Susan Ryan and Dr W. Sadurski)
- Economic Perspectives (Professor H. Geoffrey Brennan)

The Proceedings are being prepared for publication by the Academy.

In November 1985 the Annual General Meeting agreed that the Annual Symposium for November 1986 should discuss the topic *The Role of the Social Scientist as Policy Adviser*.

3. ANNUAL LECTURE

The Thirteenth Annual Lecture of the Academy was given in the Coombs Lecture Theatre, Australian National University on Tuesday, 5 November 1985 by Professor Peter Karmel, Vice-Chancellor of The Australian National University. The Lecture entitled *Quality and Equality in Education* will be published as an integral part of the *Proceedings* of the 1985 Academy Symposium.

The Academy Lecturer for 1986 is Sir Paul Hasluck, former Governor-General of Australia. Sir Paul's topic *The Social Scientist in a Democracy* will complement the 1986 Symposium referred to above.

4. INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES

The Academy continued its affiliation with the Association of Asian Social Science Research Councils (AASSREC).

In 1985-86 the fifth round of the *Exchange Scheme* between the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences and the Academies of the Humanities and of the Social Sciences in Australia was completed.

The Scheme, which began in 1980 and is funded by the Australian Government on an annual basis, has had to be curtailed by 50 per cent in terms of the number of person-weeks available for the exchange of scholars. The reduction, which became necessary due to the rapidly increasing costs of administration within China, now allows for an exchange of scholars to the level of 22 personweeks each way.

As a result of support from the Australia/Japan Foundation, ASSA, together with the Australian Academy of the Humanities, will be extending its international links by conducting a program to foster Australia/Japan relations in the humanities and social science disciplines. The first stage of the program, which will commence in the 1986-87 financial year, will provide a number of grants to assist scholars to undertake research in Japan. The program may later include the sponsorship of meetings of scholars from both countries, held either in Japan or Australia, and an exchange scheme to bring Japanese scholars to Australia.

(a) AASSREC

The Sixth Biennial Conference of AASSREC was held in Bali, Indonesia, 2-7 September 1985. The Conference, which was hosted by the Indonesian Institute of Sciences (LIPI), marked the conclusion of ASSA's term as Vice-President.

ASSA was represented by Professor W.D. Borrie (Academy delegate), Professor W.R. Geddes (editor and co-ordinator of the National Profile Studies series) and Dr J.J. Smolicz (author of the Australian paper for the symposium on Youth). The Australian contributions to the Conference were:

- Council Statement: Social Sciences in Australia: A statement on behalf of ASSA;
- Social Science and the Government; and
- Youth and Society: Viewpoints for the Future: Australia

The Proceedings are being published.

The Seventh Biennial Conference will be held in Seoul, Republic of Korea, 24-27 August 1987 where the main topics for discussion will be *Societal Resilience: The Asia Pacific Context* and *Social Development and Housing.*

(b) Chinese—Australian Exchange Scheme

Six Australian scholars were chosen to visit China in 1986. These were:

Dr D. Ip, Lecturer, Department of Anthropology & Sociology, University of Queensland

Dr D. Ironmonger, Deputy Director, Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research, University of Melbourne

Dr A. McLaren, Post-doctoral research, University of Melbourne

Dr M.T. Skully, Senior Lecturer in Finance, University of NSW

Mr Teoh Hai Yap, Senior Lecturer in Accounting, University of Wollongong

Dr V.K. Wan, Lecturer in Business Finance and Information Systems in Accounting, University of Wollongong.

In October 1985 the Australian Academies of the Social Sciences and the Humanities received a small group of agricultural economists from the Chinese Academy consisting of:

Mr He Linchang, Deputy-editor-in-chief, 'China's Rural Economy'

Mr Yu Dechang, Vice-chief, Farm Research Office, Institute of Rural Development, CASS.

Mr Huang Qianghua, interpreter.

The group held discussions with the Bureau of Agricultural Economics, Department of Primary Industry, CSIRO, NSW and Victorian Departments of Agriculture and universities in Sydney, Canberra and Armidale.

5. JOINT ACADEMY ACTIVITIES

Two meetings of the Consultative Committee of the Australian Academies were held in October and April. The Consultative Committee continued to consider matters including the funding of research, the funding of representation of national disciplinary bodies in international organizations, and the recognition of each of the four Academies as the national representative for the scholarly disciplines within their respective memberships.

During the year a general review of past activities and achievements of the CCAA was undertaken by the current Chairman, the Australian Academy of Technological Sciences. The review observed that, when undertaking to join a major, multi-disciplinary project, each Academy must commit itself to careful planning and to sustained participation in the overall management of the exercise.

ASSA's main contribution to the CCAA continued through Professor Fay Gale's study of the impact of tourism on rock art, particularly in the Kakadu area. Professor Gale's important observations in this area are being taken into account by the National Parks and Wildlife Service in the development of its practices.

6. NEWSLETTER

The *Newsletter*, which was first published in May 1982, continues to be published bi-annually. The current editor is Dr J.J. Smolicz of the University of Adelaide.

7. ADMINISTRATION

Professor R.G. Neale, who had been appointed as Executive Director from the commencement of the financial year, resigned the position as from 30 April 1986. Dr Don Rawson was appointed to the position and took up the appointment on 19 May. The Academy continues to occupy offices in the Garden Wing, University House, Australian National University.

PUBLICATIONS SPONSORED OR ASSISTED BY THE ACADEMY

Reports on Major Research Projects

Norman MacKenzie: Women in Australia, F. W. Cheshire Pty. Ltd, Melbourne, 1962.

R. I. Downing, H. W. Arndt, A. H. Boxer, R. L. Mathews: *Taxation in Australia: Agenda for Reform*, MUP, 1964.

Aborigines Series, ANU Press, Canberra, 1970-80

F. Lancaster Jones: The Structure and Growth of Australia's Aboriginal Population.

R. Taft, J. L. M. Dawson and P. H. Beasley: Attitudes and Social Conditions.

J. P. M. Long: Aboriginal Settlements.

C. D. Rowley: The Destruction of Aboriginal Society.

H. P. Schapper: Aboriginal Advancement to Integration.

C. D. Rowley: Outcasts in White Australia.

C. D. Rowley: The Remote Aborigines.

Fay Gale: Urban Aborigines.

P. M. Moodie: Aboriginal Health.

L. Broom and F. Lancaster Jones: A Blanket a Year.

Frank Stevens: Aborigines in the Northern Territory Cattle Industry. Hazel M. Smith and Ellen H. Biddle: Look Forward, Not Back.

Elizabeth Eggleston: Fear, Favour or Affection.
L. R. Smith: The Aboriginal Population of Australia.

Immigrants in Australia Series, ANU Press, Canberra, 1972-79

Jean Martin: Community and Identity.

Ruth Johnson: Future Australians.

Paul R. Wilson: Immigrants and Politics.

Alan Richardson: British Immigrants and Australia, A Psycho-social Inquiry.

C. A. Price (ed.): Greeks in Australia. Eva Isaacs: Greek Children in Sydney.

M. J. Salter: Studies in the Immigration of the Highly Skilled.

Rachel Unikoski: Communal Endeavours, Migrant Organizations in Melbourne.

John Nightingale: Migrant Household Economic Behaviour.

Studies in the Education of Migrant Children, AGPS, Canberra, 1980-83

Ronald Taft and Desmond Cahill: Initial Adjustment to Schooling of Immigrant Families.

Jean I. Martin and Phil Meade: The Educational Experience of Sydney High School Students, Report No. 1.

Phil Meade: The Educational Experience of Sydney High School Students, Report Nos. 2 and 3.

'Trend' Series, Allen & Unwin, Sydney 1978-

F. H. Gruen (ed.): Surveys of Australian Economics, Vols. 1, 2 and 3, 1978, 1979 and 1983.

D.A. Aitkin (ed.): Survey of Australian Political Science, 1985.

N.T. Feather (ed.): Australian Psychology: Review of Research, 1985.

J.P. Keeves (ed): Australian Education: Review of Research (forthcoming).

R.L. Heathcote and J.A. Mabbutt (eds): Land, Water and People (forthcoming).

Academy's Own Publications (excluding Annual Lectures)

Annual Reports, since 1956.

Bibliography of Research in the Social Sciences in Australia, 1954-57, 1958.

Bibliography of Research in the Social Sciences in Australia, 1957-60, 1961.

Bibliography of Research in the Social Sciences in Australia, 1960-63, 1966.

K. S. Cunningham: The Social Science Research Council of Australia, 1942-1952, 1967.

J. P. Sutcliffe (ed.): Mathematics Needed for Particular Social Sciences, 1976.

Annual Lectures of the Academy

C. D. Rowley: From Humbug to Politics: Aboriginal Affairs and the Academy Project, 1972.

K. S. Inglis: Naming a Nation, 1974.

Eugene Kamenka: The Age of Feuerbach: Contemporary Changes in the Perception of Man, Law and Society, 1975.

Geoffrey Blainey: The Politics of Big Business: A History, 1976.

Oskar Spate; Plus ça Change ...? Some Problems of the Sixteenth and Twentieth Centuries, 1977.

G. C. Harcourt: The Social Science Imperialists, 1978.

Henry Mayer: Dilemmas in Mass Media Policies, 1979.

Peter Sheehan: The Pure-Applied Distinction in Social Science, 1980.

Harrison Bryan: Knowledge, Information and Libraries, 1981.

R. G. Gregory: The Slide into Mass Unemployment: Labour Market Theories, Facts and Policies, 1982.

Jacqueline Goodnow: 'Women and the Social Sciences; Challenges to the Selection of Topics, Methods, and Interpretations' in *Women, Social Science and Public Policy.* 1983. Allen & Unwin, Sydney 1985.

H.H. Stretton: 'Tasks for Social Democratic Intellectuals' in *Blast, Budge or Bypass: Towards a Social Democratic Australia.* 1984. Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia, 1986.

P.H. Karmel: 'Quality and Equality in Education' in Equality of Opportunity Reconsidered. 1985. (Forthcoming.)

Academy Symposia, 1977-

Youth Unemployment (R. F. Henderson ed.), 1977. ANU Press, 1977.

Refugees: The Challenge of the Future (C. A. Price ed.), 1980. ANU Press, 1981.

Youth Employment, Education & Training (C. E. Baird, R. G. Gregory, F. H. Gruen

eds.), 1981. Centre for Economic Policy Research, Australian National University, 1981.

Liquid Fuels in Australia. A Social Science Perspective (J. A. Black ed.), 1981. Pergamon Press, 1982.

Implications of Australian Population Trends (W. D. Borrie, M. Mansfield eds.) 1981. Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia, 1982.

Aboriginal Sites, Rights, and Resource Development (R. M. Berndt ed.) 1981. University of WA Press, 1982.

Bigger or Smaller Government (G. Withers ed.), 1982. ANU Press, 1983.

Liquid Fuels, Transport and Urban Structure: A Social Science Research Review (Roger Stuart) 1983. Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia, 1984.

Women, Social Science and Public Policy (J. Goodnow, C. Pateman eds), 1983. Allen & Unwin Sydney, 1985.

Blast, Budge or Bypass: Towards a Social Democratic Australia (D.W. Rawson ed.) 1984. Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia, 1986.

Equality of Opportunity Reconsidered (Proceedings of 1985 Annual Symposium — in preparation).

Special Lecture Series

Victoria's Heritage (A.G.L. Shaw, ed.). Lectures to celebrate the 150th anniversary of European settlement in Victoria. (With AAH.) Allen & Unwin, Sydney, 1986.

Publications Arising from Sponsored Activities and Direct Subsidy

Until 1977 the Academy assisted a number of activities by contributing to the cost of seminars, providing travel grants for study in Asia, or by directly subsidising journals. Many publications arose from these activities and lists of such are printed in the *Annual Report* for 1976-77 and earlier under the headings *Publications Arising from Sponsored Activities* and *Publications Subsidised by the Academy*.

The policy of sponsorship and subsidy was discontinued in 1977.

FELLOWS OF THE ACADEMY

The *Rules* of the Academy state that 'persons who are deemed to have achieved distinction in one or more branches of the social sciences may be elected as Fellows of the Academy if (i) they are nominated by one Fellow and seconded by two other Fellows; (ii) they are recommended by the Membership Committee after investigation of their eligibility; and (iii) they receive the support of a majority of the Fellows for the time being at a postal ballot'.

Eight new Fellows were elected in 1985. They were:

Professor H. Geoffrey Brennan, Professor of Economics, The Australian National University;

Professor G.J. Davison, Professor of History, Monash University;

Professor P.J. Fensham, Dean, Faculty of Education, Monash University;

Professor J.A.W. Forge, Professor of Anthropology, The Australian National University;

Professor Helen Hughes, Professor and Director, Development Studies Centre, Australian National University;

Professor R.L. Isaac, Professor of History, La Trobe University;

Dr J.M. Powell, Reader in Geography, Monash University; and

Professor A.D. Woodland, Professor of Economic Statistics, The University of Sydney.

At June 1986 there were 197 Fellows, including Honorary and Overseas Fellows. The 1985 Annual General Meeting agreed that up to ten names should be submitted to the postal ballot for election to Fellowship in 1986. A list of Fellows, showing the year of election to Fellowship, is given in pages 17-38 of this *Report*.

The deaths of three Fellows were recorded during the year: Emeritus Professor Sir David Derham, Dr Charles Rowley and Professor Julius Stone. Mr Stanley Benn died on 25 July 1986. Obituaries appear on pages 42-49 of this *Report*.

FELLOWS AT JUNE 1986

- AITKIN, Donald Alexander. MA (New England), PhD (Australian National University).
 Professor of Political Science, Department of Political Science, and Chairman, Australian Research Grants Committee. The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1944 ALEXANDER, Frederick. MA (Oxford),
 Hon DLitt (Western Australia).
 Emeritus Professor, University of Western Australia. (History.)
 77 Victoria Avenue, Dalkeith WA. 6009
 (Honorary Fellow 1969.)

- 1981 ALLEN, Michael Richard. BA (Dublin),
 PhD (Australian National University).
 Associate Professor in Anthropology, The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- APPLEYARD, Reginald Thomas. BA (Western Australia) MA,
 PhD (Duke).
 Professor of Economic History, The University of Western Australia,
 Nedlands WA. 6009
- 1977 ARGY, Victor Elie. BA, BEc (Sydney).
 Professor of Economics, School of Economics and Financial Studies,
 Macquarie University, North Ryde NSW. 2113
- 1954 ARNDT, Heinz Wolfgang. MA, BLitt (Oxford).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University.
 (Economics.)
 Visiting Fellow, National Centre for Development Studies, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- BARNES, John Arundel. DSC. FBA, MA (Cambridge),
 DPhil (Oxford).
 Emeritus Professor, University of Cambridge. (Sociology.)
 Visiting Fellow, Department of Sociology, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601.
- 1968 BEDDIE, Brian Dugan. BA (Sydney), PhD (London). 7 Ord Street, Forrest ACT. 2603
- 1981 BELL, Coral Mary. BA (Sydney), MSc (Econ), PhD (London). Senior Research Fellow, Department of International Relations, The Australian National University. 52 Froggatt Street, Turner ACT. 2601
- 1965 BENN, Stanley Isaac. BSc (Econ) (London). FAHA.
 Professorial Fellow, Department of Philosophy, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1982 BERNDT, Catherine Helen. BA (New Zealand), DipAnthrop, MA (Sydney), PhD (London). Hon DLitt (Western Australia), (Hon) FRAI.

 Honorary Research Fellow, Department of Anthropology, The University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009

- BERNDT, Ronald Murray. DipAnthrop, MA (Sydney),
 PhD (London). (Hon) FRAI. FANZAAS.
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Western Australia.
 (Anthropology.)
 Honorary Research Fellow, Department of Anthropology, The University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009
- 1970 BLAINEY, Geoffrey Norman. AO. MA (Melbourne). Ernest Scott Professor of History and Dean of the Arts Faculty, The University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- BLANDY, Richard John. BEc (Adelaide), MA, PhD (Columbia).
 Director, National Institute of Labour Studies and Professor of Economics, The Flinders University of South Australia.
 Glyde Street, Glen Osmond SA. 5064
- BOLTON, Geoffrey Curgenven. AO. MA, DPhil (Oxford). FAHA, FRHistS.
 Professor of History, Department of History, Murdoch University, Murdoch WA. 6150
- BORRIE, Wilfred David. CBE. MA (New Zealand),
 HonDLitt (Tasmania), HonDSc Econ. (Sydney),
 HonLLD (Australian National University).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University.
 (Demography.)
 29 Norman Street, Deakin ACT. 2600
 (Honorary Fellow 1985.)
- 1977 BOURKE, Paul Francis. BA DipEd (Melbourne), PhD (Wisconsin). Director, Research School of Social Sciences, Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1975 BOXER, Alan Howard. BA (Melbourne), BPhil (Oxford). 2 Bambridge Street, Weetangera ACT. 2614
- 1985 BRENNAN, H. Geoffrey. BEc, PhD(ANU).
 Professor of Economics, Faculty of Economics and Commerce, The
 Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1977 BROOKFIELD, Harold Chillingworth. BA, PhD (London).
 Professor of Human Geography, Research School of Pacific Studies,
 The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT.
 2601
- BROOM, Leonard. AM (Boston), PhD (Duke), Hon DSc (Boston).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Sociology.)
 Research Associate, University of California, Santa Barbara, Calif.
 93106.
 379 Canon Drive, Santa Barbara, CA 93105, USA.

- BROWN, Philip Ronald. BCom (New South Wales), MBA,
 PhD (Chicago).
 Professor of Finance, Department of Accounting and Finance, The
 University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009
- BROWN, Raymond George. BA, DipSocStud (Melbourne),
 MSS (BrynMawr), PhD (Birmingham).
 Professor of Social Administration, School of Social Sciences, The
 Flinders University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- BROWN, Robert Richard. BA (New Mexico), PhD (London).
 FAHA.
 Visiting Fellow, History of Ideas Unit, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1980 BRYAN, Harrison. AO. MA (Queensland), HonLLD (Monash, Queensland). FLAA.16 Asquith Street, Oatley NSW. 2223.
- BUTLIN, Noel George. BEc (Sydney). FBA.
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Economic History.)
 Visiting Fellow, Department of History, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1972 CALDWELL, John Charles. BA (New England), PhD (Australian National University).
 Head, Department of Demography, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1958 CAMERON, Burgess Don. MEc (Sydney), PhD (Cambridge). Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Applied Economics.) 19 Clarke Street, Yarralumla ACT. 2600
- 1972 CAMPBELL, Enid Mona. OBE. LLB, BEc (Tasmania), PhD (Duke). The Sir Isaac Isaacs Professor of Law, Faculty of Law, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1964 CAMPBELL, Keith Oliver. BScAgr (Sydney), MPA (Harvard), MA, PhD (Chicago). FAIAS.

 Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Agricultural Economics.)

 188 Beecroft Road, Cheltenham NSW. 2119

- 1964 CHAMBERS, Raymond John. AO. BEc, DScEcon (Sydney). Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Accounting.) 18 Amy Street, Blakehurst NSW. 2221
- 1968 CHAMPION, Richard Annells. BA (Sydney), MA (Iowa).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology, The University of Sydney, NSW. 2006
- 1970 CLARK, Colin Grant. MA, LittD (Oxford), MA (Cambridge), HonDEcon (Monash, Queensland Tilburg), HonDSc (Milan), FBA, Academy of Agriculture of France. Research Consultant, Department of Economics, University of Queensland, St Lucia Qld. 4067
- 1952 CLARK, Charles Manning Hope. AC. MA (Melbourne), HonDLitt (Melbourne, Newcastle). Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (History.)
 11 Tasmania Circle, Forrest ACT. 2603
- 1982 CLYNE, Michael George. MA (Melbourne), PhD (Monash). FAHA. Corresponding Member, Institut für deutsche Sprache, Mannheim and Research Centre for Multilingualism, Brussels.

 Associate Professor, Department of German, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1964 CONNELL, William Fraser. OBE. MA, MEd (Melbourne),
 MA (Illinois), PhD, DLit(Ed) (London). Honorary Member AARE.
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Education.)
 Fellow, Faculty of Education, Monash University.
 34 Tanti Avenue, Mornington Vic. 3931
- 1943 COOMBS, Herbert Cole. MA (Western Australia), PhD (London), HonLLD (Melbourne, Sydney, Australian National University), HonDLitt (Western Australia) HonDSc (University of New South Wales). FAA, Honorary Fellow, FAHA, LSE, ANZAAS. Visiting Fellow, The Australian National University. Centre for Resource and Environmental Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601 (Honorary Fellow 1973.)
- CORDEN, Warner Max. MCom (Melbourne), PhD (London),
 MA (Oxford).
 Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, Research
 School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO
 Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601

- 1952 COWEN, the Right Honourable Sir Zelman. AK, GCMG, GCVO, QC. FRSA, (Hon) FAAH, FTS, FACE, FRAIA, FRACP, FASA, FRACMA, FRACOG, FCA, FACRM, FANZAAS. BA, LLM (Melbourne), MA, DCL (Oxford), HonLLD (Hong Kong, Queensland, Melbourne, Western Australia, Turin, Australian National University), HonDLitt (New England, Sydney, James Cook University of North Queensland, Oxford), HonDHL (University of Redlands, California and Hebrew Union College-Jewish Institute of Religion, Cincinnati), Hon.D.Univ. (Newcastle, Griffith), HonDPhil (Hebrew University of Jerusalem, Tel Aviv).

 Provost, Oriel College, Oxford OX1 4EW. Chairman, United Kingdom Press Council. (Honorary Fellow 1977.)
- 1979 CRITTENDEN, Brian Stephen. MA (Sydney), PhD (Illinois).
 Professor of Education, School of Education, La Trobe University,
 Bundoora Vic. 3083
- DAVIES, Alan Fraser. MA (Melbourne).
 Professor of Political Science, Department of Political Science, The
 University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- DAVIS, Solomon Rufus. LLB (Western Australia), PhD (London). Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (Politics) 31 Mont Victor Road, Kew Vic. 3101
- 1985 DAVISON, Graeme John. BA, DipEd(Melbourne), BA(Oxford), PhD(Australian National University).
 Professor of History, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- DAY, Ross Henry. BSc (Western Australia), PhD (Bristol). FAPsS. Professor of Psychology and Chairman of Department, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- DENING, Gregory Moore. MA (Melbourne, Harvard),
 PhD (Harvard).
 Max Crawford Professor of History, Department of History, The
 University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1975 DILLON, John Louis. BScAgr (Sydney), PhD (Iowa). Professor of Farm Management, The University of New England, Armidale NSW. 2351
- 1982 DIXON, Peter Bishop. BEc (Monash), AM, PhD (Harvard).
 Director, Institute of Applied Economic and Social Research, The
 University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052

- DUNN, Sydney Stephen. AO. BA, DipEd (Adelaide),
 BEd (Melbourne). HonLLD (Monash). FAPsS, FACE.
 Retired.
 1 Harriet Street, Werribee Vic. 3030
- EDWARDS, Harold Raymond. BA (Sydney), DPhil (Oxford). FAIM.
 Member for Berowra, Parliament of Australia.
 John Savage Crescent, West Pennant Hills NSW. 2120
- 1981 EGGLESTON, Sir Richard Moulton. LLB (Melbourne),
 HonLLD (Melbourne, Monash). Fellow, Queen's College, The
 University of Melbourne; Honorary Fellow, Institute of Arbitrators
 Australia; Fellow, Faculty of Law, Monash University.
 3 Willow Street, Malvern Vic. 3144
- ENCEL, Solomon. MA, PhD (Melbourne).
 Professor of Sociology, Department of Sociology, The University of New South Wales, PO Box 1, Kensington NSW. 2033
- 1970 FEATHER, Norman Thomas. BA, DipEd (Sydney), MA (New England), PhD (Michigan). FAPsS, FBPS.
 Professor of Psychology, School of Social Sciences, The Flinders University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- 1985 FENSHAM, Peter James. AM. MSc(Melbourne), DipEd(Monash), PhD(Bristol, Cambridge).

 Dean, Faculty of Education, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1974 FISK, Ernest Kelvin. MA (Oxford), LittD (Australian National University).

 1 Dugan Street, Deakin ACT. 2600
- 1953 FITZGERALD, Charles Patrick. LittD (Australian National University).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Far Eastern History.)
 4 St Paul's Street, Randwick NSW. 2031
- 1977 FORD, Harold Arthur John. LLM (Melbourne), SJD (Harvard). 32 Molesworth Street, Kew Vic. 3101
- 1985 FORGE, John Anthony Waldo. MA(Cambridge).
 Foundation Professor of Anthropology, The Faculties, The
 Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1984 FORSTER, Kenneth I. MA (Melbourne), PhD(Illinois). Reader in Psychology, Department of Psychology, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168

- 1978 GALE, Gwendoline Fay. BA, PhD (Adelaide).
 Professor of Geography, Department of Geography, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA. 5000
- 1968 GATES, Ronald Cecil. AO. BCom (Tasmania), MA (Oxford), HonDEcon (Queensland). HonFRAPI, HonFAIUS. Emeritus Professor, University of Queensland. (Economics.) "Wangarang", Kellys Plains Road, Armidale NSW. 2351
- 1960 GEDDES, William Robert. MA (New Zealand), PhD (London).
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Social Anthropology.)
 176 Hudson Parade, Clareville NSW. 2107
- 1956 GIBB, Cecil Austin. OBE. MA, BEc (Sydney), PhD (Illinois). FBPsS.
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University.
 (Psychology.)
 PO Box 28, Farrer ACT. 2607
- 1974 GLOW, Peter Helmut. BA (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA. 5000
- 1969 GOLDBERG, Louis. BA, MCom, LittD (Melbourne). FASA, ACIS. Emeritus Professor, The University of Melbourne. (Accounting.) 5 Kemsley Court, Hawthorn East Vic. 3123
- 1976 GOODNOW, Jacqueline Jarrett. BA (Sydney), PhD (Harvard). Professor of Psychology, Behavioural Sciences, Macquarie University, North Ryde NSW. 2113
- 1975 GRANT, John McBain. MEc (Adelaide), DipEc (Cambridge).
 Emeritus Professor, University of Tasmania. (Applied Economics.)
 Commissioner, Trade Practices Commission, PO Box 19, Belconnen
 ACT. 2616
- 1950 GREENWOOD, Gordon. CMG. MA (Sydney), PhD (London). HonLittD (Queensland). FAHA.
 Emeritus Professor, University of Queensland. (History.)
 University of Queensland, St Lucia Qld. 4067
- 1979 GREGORY, Robert George. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Professorial Fellow in Economics, Department of Economics; Acting
 Executive Director, Centre for Economic Policy Research, Research
 School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University,
 GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1982 GROENEWEGEN, Peter Diderik. MEc (Sydney), PhD (London). Professor of Economics, The University of Sydney, NSW. 2006

- 1970 GRUEN, Fred Henry George. AO.BA,BCom (Melbourne),
 AM (Chicago), MSc(AgEc) (Wisconsin).
 Professor of Economics, Research School of Social Sciences, The
 Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1980 HAGGER, Alfred James. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Reader in Economics, University of Tasmania.
 12 Nicholas Drive, Sandy Bay Tas. 7005
- 1968 HANCOCK, Keith Jackson. BA (Melbourne), PhD (London). Vice-Chancellor, The Flinders University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- HANNAN, Edward James. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (Australian National University). FAA.
 Professor of Statistics, Department of Statistics, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- HARCOURT, Geoffrey Colin. MCom (Melbourne),
 PhD (Cambridge).
 University Lecturer in Economics and Politics, University of
 Cambridge and Fellow and College Lecturer in Economics, Jesus
 College, Cambridge CB5 8BL. UK.
- HARPER, Norman Denholm. OBE. MA, BEd (Melbourne). FACE.
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Melbourne. (American History.)
 Department of History, The University of Melbourne,
 Parkville Vic. 3052
- HARRIS, Stuart Francis. BEc (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University).
 Secretary, Department of Foreign Affairs, Parkes, ACT. 2600
- HASLUCK, Sir Paul. Privy Councillor, KG, GCMG, GCVO, KStJ. MA (Western Australia). (Hon) FAHA.
 Retired.
 77 St George's Tce, Perth WA. 6000 (Honorary Fellow 1969.)
- 1982 HEAD, John Graeme. BEc (Adelaide), BPhil (Oxford). Professor of Economics, Monash University, Clayton, Vic. 3168
- HEATHCOTE, Ronald Leslie. BA (London), MA (Nebraska),
 PhD (Australian National University).
 Reader in Geography, The Flinders University of South Australia.
 7 Parham Road, Eden Hills SA. 5050

- HENDERSON, Alexander Scott. MD (Aberdeen), DPM, FRACP, MRCP, FRANZCP, FRC Psych.
 Director, National Health & Medical Research Council Social Psychiatry Research Unit, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- HENDERSON, Ronald Frank. CMG. MA, PhD (Cambridge).
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Melbourne. (Economics.)
 Honorary Consultant, Victorian Council of Social Service.
 7 Kenley Court, Toorak Vic. 3142
- HIATT, Lester Richard. BDS, BA (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University).
 Reader in Anthropology, Department of Anthropology, The University of Sydney, NSW. 2006
- 1943 HOGBIN, Herbert Ian. MA (Sydney), PhD (London), HonDLitt (Sydney). Hon FRAI, Hon FASAO. 45/204 Jersey Road, Woollahra NSW. 2025
- HOWARD, Colin. LLM (London), PhD (Adelaide),
 LLD (Melbourne).
 Hearn Professor of Law, The University of Melbourne,
 Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1976 HUGHES, Colin Anfield. MA (Columbia), PhD (London). Electoral Commissioner, Australian Electoral Commission, PO Box 161, Jamison Centre, Canberra ACT. 2614
- HUGHES, Helen. MA(Melbourne), PhD(London).
 Professor of Economics and Executive Director, National Centre for Development Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1975 INGLIS, Kenneth Stanley. MA (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford).
 Professor of History, History Department, Research School of
 Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4,
 Canberra ACT. 2601
- ISAAC, Joseph Ezra. BA, BCom (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Honorary Fellow, LSE.
 Deputy President, Australian Conciliation and Arbitration
 Commission, Nauru House, 80 Collins Street, Melbourne, Vic. 3000
- 1985 ISAAC, Rhys Llywelyn. BA(Cape Town), BA(Oxford).
 Professor of History, La Trobe University, Bundoora Vic. 3083

- 1976 JARRETT, Francis George. BScAgr (Sydney), PhD (Iowa). George Gollin Professor of Economics, Economics Department, The University of Adelaide SA. 5000
- JONES, Gavin W. BA (New England), PhD (Australian National University).
 Senior Fellow, Department of Demography, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University,
 GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- JONES, Frank Lancaster. BA (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University).
 Professor of Sociology, Department of Sociology, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1979 KAKWANI, Nanak Chand. MA, PhD (Delhi).
 Professor of Econometrics and Head of Department, School of Economics, The University of New South Wales, PO Box 1, Kensington NSW. 2033
- KAMENKA, Eugene. BA (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University). FAHA.
 Professor of History of Ideas, History of Ideas Unit, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1981 KAPFERER, Bruce. BA (Sydney), PhD (Manchester).
 Fellow, Center for Advanced Studies in Behavioural Sciences,
 Paloacao, California.
 Professor of Anthropology, Department of Anthropology,
 University College, London, Gower Street, London UK. WC1E 6BT
- 1952 KARMEL, Peter Henry. AC. CBE. BA (Melbourne),
 PhD (Cambridge). PhD ad eundem gradum (Adelaide), HonLLD
 (Papua New Guinea, Melbourne, Queensland), HonDLitt (Flinders,
 Murdoch), DUniv (Newcastle). FACE.
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Adelaide. (Economics.)
 President, Australian Council for Educational Research.
 Vice-Chancellor, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4,
 Canberra ACT. 2601
- KEATS, John Augustus. BSc (Adelaide), BA (Melbourne), AM, PhD (Princeton).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology, The University of Newcastle NSW. 2308

- KEEVES, John Philip. BSc (Adelaide), DipEd (Oxford),
 MEd (Melbourne), PhD (Australian National University),
 fil dr (Stockholm). FACE.
 Centre for the Study of Higher Education, The University of
 Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- LA NAUZE, John Andrew. BA (Western Australia), MA (Oxford),
 LittD (Melbourne), HonDLitt (Murdoch).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (History.)
 23 Glasgow Place, Hughes ACT. 2605
- LAWRENCE, Peter. MA, PhD (Cambridge).
 Honorary Fellow of Association for Social Anthropology in Oceania.
 Professor of Anthropology, Department of Anthropology,
 The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- 1959 LAWTON, Graham Henry. MA (Oxford), BA, BEd (Melbourne). Emeritus Professor, The University of Adelaide. (Geography.) Box 154, Magill SA. 5072
- 1964 LEGGE, John David. BA, MA (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford). Dean, Faculty of Arts, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1979 LLOYD, Peter John. MA (Victoria University of Wellington), PhD (Duke).
 Professor of Economics, The University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1973 LOGAN, Malcolm Ian. BA, DipEd, PhD (Sydney).
 Deputy Vice-Chancellor, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- LOVEDAY, Peter. BA, PhD (Sydney).
 Senior Fellow in Political Science, Department of Political Science and Field Director, North Australia Research Unit (Darwin),
 The Australian National University.
 PO Box 41321, Casuarina NT. 5792
- LOVIBOND, Sydney Harold. BA (Melbourne), MA, PhD, DipSocSc (Adelaide).
 Emeritus Professor, The University of New South Wales. (Psychology.)
 School of Psychology, The University of New South Wales, PO Box 1, Kensington NSW. 2033
- 1975 LOW, Donald Anthony. MA, DPhil (Oxford).
 Smuts Professor of the History of the British Commonwealth,
 University of Cambridge.
 Churchill College, Cambridge CB3 ODS.

- McBRIAR, Alan Marne. BA (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford). FRHisS.
 Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (History.)
 Wellington Road, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1980 McCARTY, John William. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (Cambridge). Professor of Economic History, Department of Economic History, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- MacDONAGH, Oliver Ormond Gerard. MA (National University of Ireland), MA, PhD (Cambridge) HonDLitt (Flinders). Barrister-at-Law (King's Inns, Dublin). FBA. FAHA.
 W.K. Hancock Professor of History, Department of History, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- McDONALD, Roderick Peter. BA, MSc (Sydney), PhD (New England). Fellow, Australian Psychological Society. Fellow, Royal Statistical Society.
 Professor of Education, School of Education, Macquarie University, North Ryde NSW. 2113
- McGAW, Barry. BSc,BEd (Queensland), MEd, PhD (Illinois).
 FACE, FAPsS.
 Director, Australian Council for Educational Research, PO Box 210, Hawthorn Vic. 3122.
- McGEE, Terence Gary. MA, PhD (Victoria University of Wellington).
 Director, Institute of Asian Research, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC V6T 1W5 Canada
- 1976 MACKIE, James Austin Copland. BA (Melbourne), MA (Oxford). Professor of Political and Social Change and Head, Department of Political and Social Change, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1975 MANN, Leon. MA, DipSocSt (Melbourne), PhD (Yale).
 Professor of Psychology, School of Social Sciences, The Flinders
 University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- MARJORIBANKS, Kevin. BSc (New South Wales), BA (New England), MEd (Harvard), PhD (Toronto). FRSS, FACE.
 Professor of Education and Pro Vice-Chancellor, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA. 5000

- MARTIN, Allan William. MA, DipEd (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University). FAHA.
 Senior Fellow in History, Department of History, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- MATHEWS, Russell Lloyd. CBE. BCom (Melbourne).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Economics.)
 22 Cobby Crescent, Campbell ACT. 2601
- MAYER, Henry. AM. MA (Melbourne).
 Visiting Professor, School of English and Linguistics, Macquarie
 University, Visiting Professor, Department of Sociology, The
 University of New South Wales and Visiting Professor in Politics,
 The University of Wollongong.
 18 Sofala Avenue, Lane Cove NSW. 2066
- MELVILLE, Sir Leslie (Galfreid). KBE, CBE. BEc (Sydney),
 HonLLD (Toronto, Australian National University), HonDSc (Econ)
 (Sydney). Honorary Fellow, The Australian National University.
 71 Stonehaven Crescent, Deakin ACT. 2600
 (Honorary Fellow 1979.)
- MILLAR, Thomas Bruce. AO. BA (Western Australia),
 MA (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Academic, Australian Studies Centre, The University of London,
 27-28 Russell Square, London WC1B 5DS England
- MILLER, John Donald Bruce. MEc (Sydney), MA (Cambridge).
 Professor of International Relations, Department of International Relations, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1964 MONRO, David Hector. MA (New Zealand). FAHA.
 Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (Philosophy.)
 Department of Philosophy, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- MORISON, William Loutit. BA, LLB (Sydney), DPhil (Oxford). Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Law.) 20 Byora Crescent, Northbridge NSW. 2063
- MUNN, Norman Leslie. BSc (Springfield), MA, PhD (Clark),
 HonDSc (Springfield). FAPA, HonFAPS.
 Honorary Professor of Psychology, The University of Adelaide.
 187 Esplanade South, South Brighton SA. 5048
- 1974 MUSGRAVE, Peter William. MA (Cambridge), PhD (London). Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (Education.) Faculty of Education, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168

- MYER, Kenneth Baillieu. AC. DSC. HonLLD (Melbourne).
 President, The Myer Foundation; Director, The Myer Emporium
 Ltd; Chairman, Australian Broadcasting Corporation.
 19th Floor, Myer House, 250 Elizabeth Street, Melbourne Vic. 3000
 (Honorary Fellow 1972.)
- 1976 NEALE, Robert George. AO. MA, DipEd (Melbourne). Emeritus Professor, University of Queensland. (History.) 1 Astley Place, Garran ACT. 2605
- 1974 NEUTZE, Graeme Max. MAgrSc (New Zealand), DPhil (Oxford). Head, Urban Research Unit, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- NEVILE, John Warwick. BA (Western Australia), MA,
 PhD (California).
 Professor of Economics and Director, Centre for Applied Economic Research, School of Economics, The University of New South Wales, PO Box 1, Kensington NSW. 2033
- NG, Yew-Kwang. BCom (Nanyang), PhD (Sydney).
 Nuffield Foundation Fellow, Nuffield College; Simon Senior Research Fellow, Manchester University.
 Reader in Economics, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- O'NEIL, William Matthew. AO. MA, DipEd, HonDLitt (Sydney). HonFAPsS.

 Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Psychology.)
 80 Macquarie Street, Roseville NSW. 2069
 (Honorary Fellow 1982.)
- 1978 O'NEILL, Robert John. BE (Melbourne), MA, DPhil (Oxford). FIE (Australia).

 Director, International Institute for Strategic Studies, 23 Tavistook Street, London WC2E 7NQ, UK
- 1975 OVER, Raymond Frederick. BA, PhD (Sydney).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology,
 La Trobe University, Bundoora Vic. 3085
- 1984 PARISH, Ross McDonald. BSc (Sydney), PhD (Chicago). Professor of Economics, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1959 PARKER, Robert Stewart. MBE. MEc (Sydney).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Political Science.)
 54 Munro Street, Curtin ACT. 2605

- PASSMORE, John Arthur. MA, HonLittD (Sydney). FAHA, FBA. Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Philosophy.)

 Visiting Distinguished Professor and General Editor, Bertrand Russell Project, McMaster University, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada, and Visiting Fellow in History of Ideas, History of Ideas Unit, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1945 PARTRIDGE, Percy Herbert. AC. MA (Sydney),
 HonLLD (Australian National University). FAHA.
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University.
 (Philosophy.)
 56 Mirning Crescent, Aranda ACT. 2614
 (Honorary Fellow 1980.)
- 1980 PATEMAN, Carole. DipEc and PolSci, MA, DPhil (Oxford). Reader in Government, Department of Government and Public Administration, The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- PERKINS, James Oliver Newton. MA, PhD (Cambridge),
 MCom (Melbourne).
 Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, Faculty of
 Economics and Commerce, The University of Melbourne, Parkville
 Vic. 3052
- 1972 PITCHFORD, John David. MCom (Tasmania), PhD (Australian National University).
 Professor of Economics, Economics Department, The Faculties, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1969 POLLARD, Alfred Hurlstone. MSc (Sydney), MSc (Econ), PhD (London), DSc (Macquarie). FIA, FIAA. Emeritus Professor, Macquarie University. (Economic Statistics.) 51 Cliff Road, Northwood NSW. 2066
- 1979 POLLARD, John Hurlstone. BSc (Sydney), PhD (Cambridge). FIA, FIAA.
 Professor of Actuarial Studies, Macquarie University, North Ryde NSW. 2113
- PORTER, Michael Glenthorne. BEc (Adelaide), AM,
 PhD (Stanford).
 Professor of Economics and Director, Centre of Policy Studies,
 Monash University.
 41 Elizabeth Street, Malvern Vic. 3144

- 1973 POWELL, Alan Anthony Leslie. BScAgr., PhD (Sydney).
 Professor, Ritchie Chair of Research in Economics, The
 University of Melbourne.
 IMPACT Centre, Barry Street, The University of Melbourne,
 Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1985 POWELL, Joseph Michael. MA(Liverpool), PhD, DLitt(Monash). Reader in Geography, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1971 POYNTER, John Riddoch. Chevalier dans l'Ordre des Palmes Academiques, MA (Oxford), BA, PhD (Melbourne). FAHA. Deputy Vice-Chancellor, The University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1979 PRESCOTT, John Robert Victor. BSc, MA, DipEd (Durham), PhD (London), MA (Melbourne).
 Professor of Geography, Department of Geography, The University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1967 PRICE, Charles Archibald. AM. BA (Adelaide), MA, DPhil (Oxford).
 Retired
 31 Rawson Street, Deakin ACT. 2600
- 1978 RAWSON, Donald William. MA, PhD (Melbourne).
 Executive Director, Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia and Senior Fellow in Political Science, Department of Political Science, The Australian National University.
 Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia, GPO Box 1956, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1977 REAY, Marie Olive. MA (Sydney), PhD (Australian National University).

 Senior Fellow in Anthropology, Department of Anthropology, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1983 REID, Gordon Stanley. AC. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (London). Governor of Western Australia. Government House, Perth WA. 6000
- 1984 RICHARDS, Eric Stapleton. PhD (Nottingham).
 Professor of History, School of Social Sciences, The Flinders
 University of South Australia, Bedford Park, SA. 5042.
- RICHARDSON, Alan. BA, DCP (Western Australia), PhD (London).
 FAPsS.
 Reader in Psychology, Department of Psychology,
 The University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009

- 1971 RIGBY, Thomas Henry Richard. MA (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Professorial Fellow in Political Science, Department of Political
 Science, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian
 National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1964 ROSS, John. BA, DipEd (Sydney), PhD (Princeton). FAPsS.
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology, The University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009
- 1973 RUSSELL, Roger Wolcott. MA (Clark), PhD (Virginia),
 DSc (London), HonDSc (Newcastle, Flinders). HonFAPsS,
 HonFBPsS, HonSFdeP, FAPA, FACE.
 Emeritus Professor, The Flinders University of South Australia.
 (Psychobiology.)
 The Flinders University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- 1976 RUZICKA, Lado Theodor. MA (Econ), PhD (Social Medicine) (Charles).
 Retired.
 Visiting Fellow, International Population Dynamics Programme,
 Department of Demography, The Australian National University,
 Canberra ACT. 2600
- 1978 RYAN, Kevin William. CBE. BA, LLB (Queensland), PhD (Cambridge). QC. Judges' Chambers, Supreme Court, Brisbane Qld. 4000
- 1979 SACKVILLE, Ronald. LLB (Melbourne), LLM (Yale). Professor of Law, The University of New South Wales; Barrister, 5/180 Phillip Street, Sydney NSW. 2000
- 1952 SAWER, Geoffrey. AO. BA, LLM (Melbourne), HonDLitt(Australian National University), HonLLD(Monash).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Law.)
 PO, Malua Bay NSW. 2536
- 1964 SCOTT, Peter. OBE. MSc(Econ), PhD(London).
 HonLLD (Tasmania), HonFAIUS.
 Emeritus Professor, University of Tasmania. (Geography.)
 University of Tasmania, Box 252C, GPO, Hobart Tas. 7001
- 1977 SCOTT, William Abbott. BS (New Mexico), MS, PhD (Michigan). Professor of Psychology, Psychology Department, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- 1984 SCRIVEN, Michael. MA (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford).
 Professor of Education, Department of Education, The University of
 Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009

- 1978 SELLECK, Richard Joseph Wheeler. BA, BEd, PhD (Melbourne). Professor of Education, Faculty of Education, Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- SERLE, Alan Geoffrey. AO. BA (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford).
 FAHA, FRHSV.
 General Editor, Australian Dictionary of Biography, The Australian
 National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- SHAW, Alan George Lewers. AO. MA (Oxford), BA (Melbourne),
 HonLittD (Newcastle). FAHA.
 Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (History.)
 161 Domain Park, 193 Domain Road, South Yarra Vic. 3141
- 1978 SHEEHAN, Peter Winston. BA, PhD (Sydney).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology, The University of Queensland, St Lucia Qld. 4067
- SIMKIN, Colin George Frederick. MA, DipSocSci (New Zealand),
 DPhil (Oxford).
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Sydney. (Economics.)
 29/3 Bariston Avenue, Cremorne NSW. 2090
- 1974 SINCLAIR, William Angus. MCom (Melbourne), DPhil (Oxford).
 Professor of Economics and Dean, Faculty of Economics & Politics,
 Monash University, Clayton Vic. 3168
- 1983 SINGER, George. MA, PhD (Sydney).

 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology; Dean, School of Behavioural Studies and Director, Brain-Behaviour Research Institute, La Trobe University, Bundoora Vic. 3083
- 1974 SMITH, Robert Henry Tufrey. BA (New England), MA (Northwestern), PhD (Australian National University).
 Vice-Chancellor, The University of Western Australia, Nedlands WA. 6009
- SMOLICZ, Jerzy Jaroslaw. BSc, PhD (Edinburgh). FRSA, FRIC, FACE.
 Reader in Education, Department of Education, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide SA. 5000
- 1978 SNAPE, Richard Hal. BCom (Melbourne), PhD (London).
 Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, Monash
 University, Clayton Vic. 3168

- 1954 SPATE, Oskar Hermann Khristian. Comendador de la Orden de Isabel la Católica. MA, PhD (Cambridge), HonLLD (Papua New Guinea), HonLittD (Australian National University).

 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Pacific History.)

 Visiting Fellow, Department of Pacific and South-East Asian History, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601

 (Honorary Fellow 1985.)
- 1971 SPEARRITT, Donald. MA, MEd (Queensland), EdD (Harvard). Professor of Education, Faculty of Education, The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- STOLJAR, Samuel Jacob. LLM, PhD, LLD; of Grays Inn,
 Barrister-at-Law.
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Law.)
 Visiting Fellow, Faculty of Law, The Australian National University,
 GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- STRETTON, Hugh. MA (Oxford), HonDLitt (Australian National University). HonLLD(Monash). FAHA.
 Reader in History, Department of History, The University of Adelaide. Adelaide SA. 5000
- SUTCLIFFE, John Philip. MA, PhD (Sydney).
 Professor of Psychology, Department of Psychology,
 The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- 1964 TAFT, Ronald. BA (Melbourne), MA (Columbia), PhD (California).

 819
 Emeritus Professor, Monash University. (Education.)
 5 Charles Street, Kew Vic. 3101
 - 1976 TURNOVSKY, Stephen John. MA (Wellington), PhD (Harvard). IBE Distinguished Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, College of Commerce and Business Administration, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, 330 Commerce (West), 1206 South Sixth Street, Champaign, Illinois 61820, USA
 - VICKERS, Douglas. BCom (Queensland), BSc (Econ),
 PhD (London).
 Professor of Economics, Department of Economics, University of Massachusetts, Amherst MA01003, USA
 - 1980 WALLACE, John Gilbert. MA, MEd (Glasgow), PhD (Bristol).
 Principal Director, Swinburne Institute of Technology, John Street,
 Hawthorn Vic. 3122

- 1978 WALLACE, Robert Henry. BCom (Melbourne), BPhil (Oxford). Reader in Economics, School of Social Sciences, The Flinders University of South Australia, Bedford Park SA. 5042
- 1977 WALLER, Peter Louis. LLB (Melbourne), BCL (Oxford).
 Barrister and Solicitor of the Supreme Court of Victoria.
 Sir Leo Cussen Chair of Law, Faculty of Law, Monash University,
 Clayton Vic. 3168
- WARD, John Manning. AO. MA, LLB (Sydney). FAHA, FRAHS.
 Vice-Chancellor and Principal, and Professor of History,
 The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- 1971 WARD, Ralph Gerard. MA (New Zealand), PhD (London).
 Director, Research School of Pacific Studies, The Australian
 National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT. 2601
- WELFORD, Alan Traviss. MA, ScD (Cambridge), MA (Princeton),
 DSc (ad eundem gradum, Adelaide). FBPsS, FAPsS.
 Emeritus Professor, The University of Adelaide. (Psychology.)
 Hadsley House, LeFebvre Street, St Peter Port, Guernsey, Channel Islands
- 1984 WELLS, Murray Charles. MCom (Canterbury), PhD (Sydney). Arthur Young Professor of Accounting, Graduate School of Management and Public Policy, The University of Sydney, NSW. 2006
- WESTERN, John Stuart. DipSocStud, MA (Melbourne),
 PhD (Columbia).
 Professor of Sociology, Department of Anthropology and Sociology,
 University of Queensland, St Lucia Qld. 4067
- WHITE, Sir Harold. CBE. MA (Melbourne). FLAA. HonFAHA.
 Formerly National and Parliamentary Librarian.
 Mugga Way, Red Hill ACT. 2603
- WILLIAMS, Professor Sir Bruce (Rodda). KBE. BA (Melbourne),
 MA (Adelaide), MA(Econ) (Manchester), HonDLitt (Keele, Sydney),
 HonDEc (Queensland), HonLLD (Manchester, Melbourne),
 Hon DSc (Aston in Birmingham).
 Grange Road, Ealing Common, London W5PJ. UK
- 1972 WILSON, Sir Roland. KBE.BCom (Tasmania), DPhil (Oxford),
 PhD (Chicago), HonLLD (Tasmania).
 64 Empire Circuit, Forrest ACT. 2603
 (Honorary Fellow 1972.)

- WOODLAND, Alan Donald. BA, PhD(The University of New England).
 Professor of Economic Statistics, Department of Economic Statistics, The University of Sydney NSW. 2006
- WRIGHT, Frederick Kenneth. BMetE, BCom (Melbourne). FASA, FAIM.
 Fitzgerald Professor of Accounting, Department of Accounting and Business Law, The University of Melbourne, Parkville Vic. 3052
- 1976 WURM, Stephen Adolphe. DrPhil (Vienna). FAHA.
 Professor of Linguistics, Research School of Pacific Studies,
 The Australian National University, GPO Box 4, Canberra ACT.
 2601
- ZUBRZYCKI, Jerzy. AO. CBE. MSc (Econ) (LSE), PhD (Free Polish University).
 Emeritus Professor, The Australian National University. (Sociology.)
 Honorary Visiting Fellow, Department of Sociology,
 The Australian National University, GPO Box 4,
 Canberra ACT. 2601

LIST OF FELLOWS BY PANEL AND DISCIPLINE

PANEL A

Anthropology
Allen, M.R.
Berndt, C.H.
Berndt, R.M.
Forge, J.A.W.
Geddes, W.R.
Hiatt, L.R.
Hogbin, I.
Kapferer, B.
Lawrence, P.
Reay, M.

Demography
Borrie, W.D.
Caldwell, J.C.
Jones, G.W.
Pollard, A.H.
Pollard, J.H.
Price, C.A.
Ruzicka, L.T.

Sociology
Barnes, J.A.
Broom, L.
Brown, R.G.
Encel, S.
Jones, F.L.
Western, J.S.
Zubrzycki, J.

Brookfield, H.C. Gale, G.F. Heathcote, R.L. Lawton, G.H. Logan, M.I. McGee, T. Powell, J.M. Prescott, J.R.V. Scott, P. Smith, R.H.T. Ward, R.G.

Geography

Linguistics
Clyne, M.
Wurm, S.

PANEL B

Economics Argy, V.E. Arndt, H.W. Blandy, R.J. Boxer, A.H. Brennan, H.G. Cameron, B.D. Campbell, K.O. Clark, C.G. Coombs, H.C. Corden, W.M. Dillon, J.L. Dixon, P.B. Edwards, H.R. Fisk, E.K. Gates, R.C. Grant, J.McB. Gregory, R.G. Groenewegen, P.D.

Gruen, F.H.G.

Hagger, A.J.

Hancock, K.J. Harcourt, G.C. Harris, S.F. Head, J.G. Henderson, R.F. Hughes, H. Isaac, J.E. Jarrett, F.G. Kakwani, N.C. Karmel, P.H. Lloyd, P.J. Mathews, R.L. Melville, Sir Leslie Ng, Y.K. Neutze, G.M. Nevile, J.W. Parish, R.McD. Perkins, J.O.N. Pitchford, J.D. Porter, M. Powell, A.A.L. Simkin, C.G.F. Snape, R.H.

Turnovsky, S.J. Vickers, D. Wallace, R.H. Williams, Sir Bruce Wilson, Sir Roland Woodland, A.D.

Accounting
Brown, P.R.
Chambers, R.J.
Goldberg, L.
Wells, M.C.
Wright, F.K.

Statistics Hannan, E.J.

Economic History
Appleyard, R.T.
Blainey, G.N.
Butlin, N.G.
Sinclair, W.A.

PANEL C

History

Alexander, F. Bolton, G.C. Bourke, P. Clark, C.M.H. Davison, G.J. Dening, G.M.

Fitzgerald, C.P. Greenwood, G.

Harper, N.D. Hasluck, Sir Paul

Inglis, K.S.
Isaac, R.L.
La Nauze, J.A.
Legge, J.D.
Low, D.A.
McBriar, A.M.
McCarty, J.W.

MacDonagh, O.O.G.M.

Martin, A.W.
Poynter, J.R.
Richards, E.S.
Serle, A.G.
Shaw, A.G.L.
Spate, O.H.K.
Stretton, H.

Ward, J.M.

Philosophy

Benn, S.I. Brown, R.R. Kamenka, E. Monro, D.H. Passmore, J.A. Partridge, P.H.

Political Science

Aitkin, D.A. Beddie, B.D. Bell, Coral Davies, A.F. Davis, S.R. Hughes, C.A. Loveday, P. Mackie, J.A.C. Mayer, H. Millar, T.B. Miller, J.D.B. Neale, R.G. O'Neill, R.J. Parker, R.S. Pateman, C. Rawson, D.W. Reid, G.S.

Law

Campbell, E. Cowen, Sir Zelman Eggleston, Sir Richard

Ford, H.A.J.
Howard, C.
Morison, W.L.
Ryan, K.W.
Sackville, R.
Sawer, G.
Stoljar, S.J.
Waller, P.L.

Other Bryan, H.

PANEL D

Psychology

Champion, R.A. Day, R.H. Feather, N.T. Forster, K.I. Gibb, C.A. Glow, P.H. Goodnow, J. Henderson, A.S. Keats, J.A.

Lovibond, S.H. Mann, L.

Munn, N.L. O'Neil, W.M.

Over, R.F.

Richardson, A. Ross, J.

Rigby, T.H.

Russell, R.W. Scott, W.A. Sheehan, P.W.

Singer, G.S. Sutcliffe, J.P.

Welford, A.T.

Education
Connell, W.F.
Crittenden, B.S.

Dunn, S.S. Fensham, P.J. Keeves, J.P. McDonald, R.P.

McGaw, B. Marjoribanks, K.

Musgrave, P.W. Scriven, M.

Selleck, R.J.W. Smolicz, J.J.

Spearritt, D. Taft, R.

Wallace, J.G.

Other

Myer, K.

White, Sir Harold

PRESIDENTS OF THE ACADEMY

- *Dr K. S. Cunningham: April 1943 February 1952 (Australian Council for Educational Research)
- Professor Sir Douglas B. Copland: March 1952 August 1953 (Australian National University)
- Mr (later Sir) Leslie G. Melville: August 1953 June 1958 (Australian National University)
- Professor S. J. Butlin: June 1958 June 1962 (University of Sydney)
- Professor W. D. Borrie: June 1962 October 1964 (Australian National University)
- Professor W. M. O'Neil: October 1964 November 1966 (University of Sydney)
- Professor P. H. Partridge: November 1966 November 1969 (Australian National University)
- Professor R. I. Downing: November 1969 November 1972 (University of Melbourne)
- Professor G. Sawer: November 1972 November 1975 (Australian National University)
- Professor F. H. G. Gruen: November 1975 November 1978 (Australian National University)
- Professor A. G. L. Shaw: November 1978 November 1981 (Monash University)
- Professor K. J. Hancock: November 1981 November 1984 (Flinders University of South Australia)
- The Hon Dr J.E. Isaac: November 1984 —
- * During this period the organisation was constituted as the Social Science Research Committee of the Australian National Research Council of which the Chairman was a member.
 - The first independent body, the Social Science Research Council of Australia, was formed in 1952 and in August 1971 this Council changed its name to the Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia.

OBITUARIES

STANLEY ISAAC BENN

Stanley Benn, who died in Canberra on 25 July 1986, was an internationally respected social and political philosopher. His book with R.S. Peters *Social Principles and the Democratic State* (1959) went into many printings, and no doubt there will be more in the future.

After war service in Europe in the army education corps, he graduated BSc(Econ) at the London School of Economics in 1947. He was then Lecturer and Senior Lecturer in Government at the University of Southampton. It was here that he became essentially a philosopher as distinct from a political theorist, and he came to a Senior Fellowship in the Department of Philosophy, Research School of Social Sciences, The Australian National University in 1962. He became a Professorial Fellow in 1973 and he retired at the end of 1985, but was a Visiting Fellow in the Department at the time of his death. He was elected to the Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia in 1965 and to the Australian Academy of the Humanities in 1979.

Benn had a powerfully original and independent mind and yet at the same time he had a liking for collaboration and joint authorship. His lunch hours were often periods of intense philosophical discussion with a colleague no less than for fortification of the inner man. His bent for co-operative work led to some well known collections of essays on specific topics, collections to which he was himself a major contributor, as well as doing a great deal of editorial work on the other contributions. Of recent years he wrote a number of important essays in the field of applied ethics. Recently he contributed an important essay on the ethics of nuclear war which was the first article in the first number of the new Journal of Applied Philosophy (1984). Out of these papers on applied ethics one can discern a developing system of theoretical ethics. In the last two years of his life Benn was busy on a book, completed just before his death, in which he explicitly worked out his novel ethical system. In contrast to the utilitarianism of Social Principles and the Democratic State he had come to an ethics in which Respect for Persons took the central position. In this it is nearer the tradition of Kant than of Bentham. It is hoped that a colleague will see the book through the press, and it may well be hailed as one of the most original and important books in ethics of recent years.

Benn had outstandingly admirable personal qualities. He was a man of immense moral courage. His strength of mind and moral support at times of difficulty were something that the writer of this note will always remember with gratitude. In his final months Benn showed himself to be a man of great physical courage also, as he finished his book despite painful illness. Benn was an extremely lucid and persuasive speaker on the Faculty and on various other University committees, when his judgment was always perceptive and sound.

Benn and his wife Miriam loved the Australian bush. Nevertheless he still retained his essential Englishness. In him was the best of both countries.

J.J.C. Smart

EMERITUS PROFESSOR SIR DAVID DERHAM

David Derham died on 1 September 1985, after a long illness which he bore with patient, unwavering courage and good humour. He had two distinct academic careers. He was Professor of Jurisprudence in the University of Melbourne from 1951 to 1964, and went on to found the Monash Law School, where he was Dean of Law and also Sir Owen Dixon Professor of Law until he returned to Melbourne as its fourth Vice-Chancellor in March 1968.

His term as Vice-Chancellor encompassed the stormy years of opposition to Australia's participation in the Vietnam war, and some students' demands for greater participation in the management of the University. It was a time of great change, and of a reappraisal of the role and function of universities in Australian life. David presided over a famous, long-established University which had developed several institutional characteristics he considered ill-fitted it for what it could and should achieve, in learning, in scholarship and in preparing people for the professions, as this century came to its end. When he retired, prematurely because of his poor health, in May 1982, he had initiated and overseen the development of many innovations for its better government and organization.

The making of a great Vice-Chancellor meant that he could not, except in the most limited fashion, continue with legal scholarship. David had developed teaching and research in the twin disciplines of Australian constitutional law and jurisprudence in his years at Melbourne. He was considered, inside and outside Australia, as an outstanding legal philosopher, without being labelled as an adherent of one or other of the schools or factions in the jurisprudential galaxy. His most substantial published work was the Third Edition of George Paton's A Textbook of Jurisprudence, published in 1964, which incorporated his very substantial changes and additions, including important new sections or chapters on precedent, on legal personality (on which subject he wrote a significant essay in Legal Personality and Political Pluralism (1958), edited by the late Leicester Webb), and on the concept of possession. He was elected a Fellow of the SSRC, the forerunner of the Academy, in 1964.

Though he spent a short four years as Dean of Law in Monash University, David proposed, planned and developed ideas and programmes which have lasted till today: the double degree, with core subjects and later-year choices combined with studies in a discipline outside the law; recruitment of staff with a distribution of academic ranks commensurate with what was regarded

as acceptable generally in non-laboratory faculties; a Law Library as the heart both of the faculty and of the building he took a major part in planning; and close relations between the legal profession and the Law School. When he left, the University accepted the proposal of his colleagues in the Law School that it should be named in his honour.

David was a gifted teacher, a generous mentor and a colleague who was always interested in what his fellow teachers were thinking and writing. He encouraged interdisciplinary studies and research. He saw law as 'not fixed and static. It moves and grows with the needs of the community it serves.' He saw legal education as a course of study in which the competing forces for change and stability in a legal system were discerned and appreciated, and the balance understood. He had the talent, and the determination, to communicate his ideas to those about him, and to many who will come after.

Louis Waller

DR CHARLES ROWLEY

Early in the morning of September 18, 1985, Charles Dunford Rowley died peacefully in his sleep following a severe illness which he had suffered during the previous three months. We mourn his loss and convey our deep sympathy to his family.

But our grief is tempered by the reality that Charles Rowley's life-span of 78 years exceeded that which we of the western world now claim as our birthright and which until recently was almost twice that of the peoples whose welfare and dignity motivated this man to a life-time of distinguished study and publication. Charles Rowley never retired. His book, *Recovery: The Politics of Aboriginal Reform*, which was in Press at the time of his death, was published in March 1986 by Penguin, and until compelled by his illness to stop work, he was completing the writing of his extensive field studies of Aboriginal communities in the Sydney area.

This quiet Australian was seldom heard, but he went from achievement to achievement. He enlisted and served his country — and the cause of independence of colonial territories — for four years in the Second World War, until demobilised as a Lieutenant Colonel in 1946. He spoke little of this. To him the pen was indeed mightier than the sword, but the war launched him on fields of study of subject peoples, first of the Papuans and New Guineans and then of Australia's Aborigines, which gained him not only national, but also international recognition.

A graduate of Sydney University with first-class honours, Charles Rowley, like so many of his distinguished contemporaries began life as a high school teacher, for a decade after 1938. After the war he served in the new

Universities Commission and the Commonwealth Office of Education. In 1950, he was appointed Principal of the Australian School of Pacific Administration in Sydney, where he deepened his scholarly studies of the peoples of New Guinea and of the Aborigines of Australia. He broadened his experience as an educational expert working for Unesco in South-east Asia and travelled and studied in USA as a Carnegie Fellow.

Then the flow of scholarly books began, first Australians in German New Guinea 1914-21 (1958) then The Lotus and the Dynamo (1960) and The New Guinea Villager (1965). These set the tone of his scholarship from here onwards. As Professor Ken Inglis has written, Charles Rowley was writing about 'the person at the centre of his vision: not the matters of policy or the administrators, but the human being whom policy-making and administration is about'.

Then came the flood. In 1964 the Social Science Research Council of Australia — soon to become the Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia - managed to garner some funds from the Myer Foundation and launch a major project to study Aborigines in Australian society. I think I am safe in saving that this project was the best investment of any Australian foundation in the social sciences, and the prime reason for its success was that Charles Rowley was persuaded to accept the role of Director of the project, a position which he held from 1964 to 1967. He returned to New Guinea in 1968 as the first Professor of Political Studies at the new University there, but the Academy's Aboriginal project continued to build upon the foundations so well laid by its Director. Some 10 volumes by individual scholars, sought out and encouraged by Charles Rowley, were eventually published, covering many aspects of Aboriginal life and society. But the jewels of the project were the massive contributions by the Director himself; three major volumes under the general title of Aboriginal Policy and Practice with the individual titles of: The Destruction of Aboriginal Society (1970), Outcasts in White Australia (1971), The Remote Aborigines (1971).

These works rightly earned Charles Rowley a Doctorate of Literature of the University of Sydney. Later, in his citation for the Honorary Degree of Dr of Laws conferred on Charles Rowley by ANU in 1983, Ken Inglis described this project as 'the most valuable gift of social science to Australia'. I agree, but would go further and add that these studies did more than anything else to change the directions of policies in Australia concerned with our Aboriginal people.

In 1974 Charles Rowley, already past the normal age of retirement, returned from New Guinea to Australia to take up the position of Executive Director of the Academy of the Social Sciences, in succession to the late Professor 'Joe' Burton. He held the post until 1979. While running the affairs of the Academy he produced another penetrating study in the

field of Aboriginal policy, *A Matter of Justice* (1978), and for the five years 1975-80 was also Chairman of the Aboriginal Land Fund Commission of the Federal Government, a position which enabled him to persuade governments to give effect to many of the principles which he had advocated in his writings, although the slow pace of change often disappointed him.

Charles Rowley 'retired' again in 1979 when he left the Academy, but he was too much the scholar to stay intellectually idle. True, he spent more time with Irene tending their beautiful garden in Hawker. They also travelled: he was the Scholar-in-Residence at the Rockefeller Center in Ballagio in 1983. But from 1979 to 1981 he was a Visiting Fellow at ANU and from 1982 held the same position in the Australian Institute of Aboriginal Studies. He continued to direct field studies amongst rural and urban Aboriginal communities, following up the households he had studied some 15 years earlier. The books were smaller but no less seminal. *Equity by Instalments* (1982) was a comparative study of Aboriginal householders in rural New South Wales in 1965 and 1980. As stated above another short manuscript, built up from his address on the occasion of the award of his Honorary Degree at ANU in 1983, has been proofed and is in process of publication, with the title *Decolonising Australia* — *The Politics of Aboriginal Recovery*. Penguin also propose a third printing of his famous trilogy.

Some six months before his death, over one of our informal lunches in the Fellows Garden at University House, he told me that when these 'cleaning-up' processes were completed, he would 'hang up his boots'. He had only done that once before, when he stopped playing first grade Rugby League in Sydney. How fortunate Australia and social science scholarship are that he resisted the second temptation for so long! He was active to the end.

I predict that Charles Rowley's writings will live on for many years, for they contain fundamental truths above the nature of enduring societies-justice, tolerance, compassion, integrity. Above all he will be revered by those fortunate enough to have known him. A tribute to him in *The Canberra Times* wrote of him as 'a determined man who was also humble and unpretentious'. He was also a man of immense sagacity, humanity and generosity. Therein lay his greatness, for he was a great man by the standards that matter.

How appropriate that he was awarded the honorary Degree of Doctor of Laws by ANU in September 1983 'on the ground of his distinguished creative contributions in the service of society'.

W.D. Borrie

PROFESSOR JULIUS STONE

Julius Stone, who died in Sydney on 3 September 1985, was a member of the Academy from its earliest days. He was a member of the group which, during the war, founded the Social Science Research Council which later became the Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia. He was, fittingly, elected as an Honorary Fellow in 1973. He was a justly famous law teacher and a jurist and legal scholar of international standing. Over a long period he played an active and prominent part in the life of the Australian community and he made significant contributions in speech, broadcast and writing to the debate on many significant public issues.

He was born on 2 July 1907 in Leeds. In the United Kingdom he had earned degrees of the Universities of Oxford and Leeds; he was awarded the senior Oxford degree of Doctor of Civil Laws at the early age of 28. After Oxford he was articled to a solicitor and held a part-time teaching post in the University of Hull. He went to Harvard as a graduate student in 1930 where he worked under the general direction of Roscoe Pound and was awarded the SJD in 1932. He was appointed to a junior teaching post there, as his friend and contemporary Erwin Griswold wrote, 'endeavouring to measure up to the Harvard Law School tradition of *juniores and labores*'. He returned for a time to the United Kingdom and in 1938 became Professor of Law and Dean of the Faculty of Law in Auckland, New Zealand.

In 1942, he was appointed Challis Professor of Jurisprudence and International Law in the University of Sydney. It was wartime, and there was some unhappy controversy surrounding the appointment, but over the thirty years of his tenure of the Chair, he securely established his great reputation as a teacher, scholar and publicist, and his major work was done primarily from this Australian base. Though he travelled very widely, Sydney was his home from that time until his death more than forty years later.

During the war years he served on the Prime Minister's Committee on National Morale, and he became a member of the Directorate of Research at the Land Headquarters of General Blamey. That unusual organisation under the direction of the late Alf Conlon housed some very talented temporary soldiers. In the war years, he also began his career as a radio commentator, and over many years he built up a great radio following. He was the second Boyer Lecturer for the ABC in 1960 and spoke on *Law and Policy in the Quest for Survival*. He was Chairman of the Australian UNESCO Committee for the Social Sciences for a decade from 1950 to 1960.

He was in great demand in many places overseas; he was a lecturer and visiting professor in the United States, Europe and India. He had a deep attachment to Israel where he had close links with the Universities, and he was the founding Academic Director of the Truman Research Institute in

the Hebrew University of Jerusalem.

In 1972, he retired from the University of Sydney, but this simply marked a transfer to the University of New South Wales. The Dean of the Law School in that University spoke of his 'catch' in attracting Julius Stone to a younger and very active law school. One such appointment was not enough; Julius Stone also held a continuing appointment as Distinguished Professor at the Hastings College of Law of the University of California in San Francisco. That College has a special character, established through its policy of recruiting famous emeriti who have retired from the schools in which they achieved their fame. Julius Stone was an active and productive scholar almost up to his death; his Dean at the University of New South Wales reported that he 'counted no less than 44 major articles and other contributions which have come from his pen in the past decade'.

The range of Stone's writings in the law and associated fields is very wide; the Festschrift, Legal Change: Essays in Honour of Julius Stone published in 1983, to mark the fiftieth year of his life as a law teacher and scholar, listed his books, treatises, monographs and principal articles over this period. His first major contribution to jurisprudence, The Province and Function of Law, published in 1946, attracted wide and favourable attention and it was highly praised by his great teacher and mentor, Roscoe Pound. Out of it grew the massive trilogy Legal Systems and Lawyers' Reasonings (1964), Human Law and Human Justice (1965) and Social Dimensions of Law and Justice (1966). This corpus of writing has been described as the most comprehensive account yet written of modern jurisprudential thought.

The substance of Stone's approach to law has been well stated by Professor Blackshield, the editor of the 1983 Festschrift. He says that Stone has always 'located it firmly in the context of human experience in the stream of time. This is a context of changefulness and sensory richness in which legal material is to be judged not merely by its elegance, but also by its responsiveness to the human aspiration for justice and to all the pressures and challenges arising — and inevitably continuing to rise — from the social and economic changes of which the law is merely a part'. As was well and plainly said in an earlier tribute to Stone, he constantly enquired of every legal rule and institution 'what are you good for?'

In the field of international law, to which he made massive contributions, such books as Legal Controls of International Conflict (1954), Aggression and World Order (1958) and Quest for Survival (1961) did much to bring international law to grips with modern realities. A more recent study, Israel and Palestine: Assault on the Law of Nations (1981) asserted the importance of international law, discussed in this book in the context of the resolution of the complex issues involved in the Arab-Israel peace process, with which Stone was deeply and passionately concerned.

I first met Julius Stone during the war years, when he gave me encouragement as I was looking forward to the renewal of law studies at Oxford. Then I met him again when I returned to Melbourne as Professor of Law and, in the years which followed, we were colleagues in the Australian Universities Law Schools Association in important, exciting and formative times, and we maintained a friendship and association throughout our joint lives. As the biographer of Isaac Isaacs, I wrote at some length about the protracted and unhappy debate between Isaacs, then retired from the Office of Governor-General, and Stone over issues relating to Zionism and British policy in Palestine in the early 1940s. Julius Stone's pamphlet-book Stand up and be Counted was a detailed and effective response to Isaacs' attacks on what he styled 'political Zionism'. It was a courageous act on the part of a young and not yet well established law professor, to which his antagonist responded with angry personal rebuke. Stone then demonstrated, as he did throughout his life, a deep commitment to the Jewish National Home which was soon to emerge as the State of Israel.

As Governor-General, I was delighted to be asked to write a foreword to the *Festschrift* which honoured Stone in 1983. By the time it was published, I had retired from that office, but I was deeply pleased to pay tribute to the most distinguished Australian law teacher of my generation. Thereafter, I saw him only once, when I was visiting the United States in 1983, and I came to speak at Harvard and the Fletcher School of Law and Diplomacy. As I wrote elsewhere 'at both places he was present at the lectures . . . There, as always, he was an active, enthusiastic and generous participant, handling almost seventy-six years with perfect ease.'

He received many honours: prizes, honorary degrees, professional recognition as a QC, and decorations. He was awarded the OBE in 1973 and the AO in 1981. Yet, as one who has had something to do with this business, I wonder whether his massive achievement was adequately recognised.

I wrote some months ago, in the last year of his life, that the record of achievement is immense, and that Julius Stone is, by general agreement, regarded as one of the great legal scholars of his day. He has won the respect, admiration and affection of generations of students; he is a warm and generous friend. He has been secure in a happy family life; the record of activity and publication makes it difficult to see how he could find time for this, but it is so.

Save, sadly, that I have to turn the present tense into the past, I ask leave to repeat these words.

Zelman Cowen

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 1986

			PAGE 1
1984/85		1985/86	
\$		\$	
2293		1360	
25		29	
	2318		1389
113		5809	
1042		2231	
(628)			
_			
525			
	1052		7407
36139		38808	
7500		10000	
10000		_	
7500		_	
3510		14035	
_		20000	
_		5000	
	64649		87843
	1000		1000
	69019		97639
4308		4308	
(216)		(647)	
	4092		3661
10459		11095	
(1046)		(2155)	
	9413		8940
	13505		12601
	82524		110240
	\$ 2293 25	\$ 2293 25 25 2318 113 1042 (628) - 525 - 1052 36139 7500 10000 7500 3510	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ 299 \$ 2318 \$ \$ 29 \$ 2318 \$ \$ 29 \$ 2318 \$ \$ 2318 \$ \$ 231 \$ (628) \$ (276) \$ (395) \$ 525 \$ 38 \$ \$ 2000 \$

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 1986

PAGE 2 1984/85 1985/86 \$ CURRENT LIABILITIES Creditors Accrued salaries 307 4346 Suppliers 5486 Sundry 5662 5793 10008 TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 5793 10008 LONG TERM LIABILITIES Staff long service leave 2800 3300 TOTAL LIABILITIES 8593 13308 ACCUMULATED FUNDS Balance at start of year 79953 74067 Surplus/(deficit) for the year (6022)22865 Balance at end of year 73931 96932 TOTAL EQUITIES 82524 110240

NOTE. A contingent liability for staff sick leave of approximately \$6000 is not reflected in the above balance sheet.

STUART HARRIS, Hon. Treasurer

We have examined the books and records of The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In our opinion the above Consolidated Balance Sheet represents a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academy of Social Sciences in Australia as at 30 June 1986.

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA MAIN ACCOUNT

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 1986

			PAGE 1
1984/85		1985/86	
\$		\$	
702		797	
25		29	
	727		826
136			
113		70	
1042		2231	
(628)		(276)	
_		(395)	
	663		1630
5293		9683	
3510		4035	
	8803		13718
	10193		16174
4308		/308	
(210)	4092	(047)	3661
10459	10/2	11095	3001
	9413	(21)))	8940
	13505		12601
	=====	:	12001
	23698		28775
	\$ 702 25 136 113 1042 (628) 5293	\$ 702 25	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA MAIN ACCOUNT

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 1986

PAGE 2

	1984/85		1985/86	
	\$		\$	
CURRENT LIABILITIES				
Creditors				
Accrued salaries	307		4346	
Suppliers	5486		_	
		5793		4346
Loans				
Research Account		2500		_
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES		8293		4346
LONG TERM LIABILITIES				
Staff long service leave		2800		3300
TOTAL LIABILITIES		11093		7646
ACCUMULATED FUNDS				17.
Balance at start of year		21455		12606
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		(8850)		8523
Balance at end of year		12605		21129
TOTAL EQUITIES		23698		28775

NOTE: A contingent liability for staff sick leave of approximately \$6000 is not reflected in the above balance sheet.

STUART HARRIS, Hon. Treasurer

We have examined the books and records of The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia (Main Account) and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In our opinion the above Balance Sheet and the accompanying Statements of Revenues and Expenses represent a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academy of Social Sciences in Australia (Main Account) as at 30 June 1986 and of its financial transactions for the year ending on that date.

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA MAIN ACCOUNT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES & EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

	1984/85		1985/86	
	\$		\$	
REVENUES				
Australian Government grant		84575		88830
Members' subscriptions		20886		24217
Interest		2296		2206
Surplus on Liquid Fuels project Contribution from the Academies' Australian-China Exchange in the		1194		5000
Humanities and Social Sciences		2000		5000
TOTAL REVENUES		110951		120253
EXPENSES				
Administrative expenses				
Salaries	57341		58595	
Staff long service leave	2800		500	
Printing & stationery	6084		7440	
Postage	1624		1410	
Telephone	2520		2732	
Publications	88		12521	
Rent of premises	11496		13531	
Insurance	454		747	
Audit & accounting	800 259		800 160	
Advertising Doubtful debts	628		276	
Maintenance of office equipment	787		1410	
Depreciation	767		1410	
office equipment	1046		1109	
furniture & fittings	216		431	
Assets written off				
office equipment	2072		_	
furniture & fittings	_		_	
Sundry expenses	106		512	
Academy Appraisal	_		1500	
		88321		91153
Academy, Research Panel &				
Committee expenses		30749		19326
International Relations	/50		/22	
AASSREC subscription	450		423	
Conferences	281	731	828	1251
TOTAL EXPENSES		119801		111730
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		117001		111/30
transferred to Accumulated Funds		(8850)		8523

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA RESEARCH PROJECTS ACCOUNT

BALANCE SHEET AS AT 30 JUNE 1986

	1984/85		1985/86	
	\$		\$	
CURRENT ASSETS				
Cash in hand				
Bank current account	1087		412	
Debtors				
Publication credit sales	525		38	
Loan to Main Account	2500		_	
Aust/Pacific Islands Workshop	_		3111	
Accrued Interest	_		1778	
		4112		5339
Investments				
Bank savings investment account	11244		9553	
Citicorp debenture stock	7500		10000	
Esanda unsecured notes	7500		_	
AGC debenture stock	10000		_	
Burns Philp	_		20000	
BA cash management trust	_		5000	
- 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1 - 1		36244		44553
Stock of publications		1000		1000
TOTAL ASSETS		41356		50892
CURRENT LIABILITIES				
Creditors				
Melbourne University	_		2000	
Aust/Pacific Islands Workshop		_	3662	5662
TOTAL LIABILITIES				5662
ACCUMULATED FUNDS				
Balance at start of year		44791		41355
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		(3435)		3875
Balance at end of year		41356		45230
TOTAL EQUITIES		41356		50892

STUART HARRIS, Hon. Treasurer

We have examined the books and records of The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia (Research Projects Account) and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In our opinion the above Balance Sheet and the accompanying Statement of Revenues and Expenses represents a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academy of Social Sciences in Australia (Research Projects Account) as at 30 June 1986 and of its financial transactions for the year ending on that date.

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA RESEARCH PROJECTS ACCOUNT

STATEMENT OF REVENUES & EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

	1984/85		1985/86	
	\$		\$	
REVENUES				
Donations to research		186		_
Interest		4351		5992
Publication sales		1019		105
Royalties				
Surveys of Australian Economics	250		258	
Liquid Fuels in Australia	20		21	
Bigger or Smaller Government	592		_	
Aboriginal Sites	1387		198	
Women Social Science	_		185	
Political Science	_		202	
ANUTECH	_		114	
Other	39			
Grants				
Melbourne University	_		2000	
ADAB (Aust/Pac Islands W/shop)	_		8000	
Other	_		66	
		2288		11044
TOTAL REVENUES		7844		17141
EXPENSES				
Projects				
Health and Behaviour	4164		10	
Aust/Pacific Islands Workshop	33		10923	
Victorian Sesqui Centenary	95		30	
1		4292		10963
Publications				
Psychology Volume	_		252	
Education Volume	_		2000	
		_		2252
Stock of publications written off		6983		
Bank charges		4		11
Storage costs		_		34
Postage		-		6
TOTAL EXPENSES		11279		13266
Surplus/(deficit) transferred to				
Research Projects Accumulated Funds		(3435)		3875
		7844		17141

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA SPECIAL PURPOSE (APPEAL) ACCOUNT

STATEMENT OF REVENUE & EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

	1984/85	1985/86	
	\$	\$	
REVENUES			
Donations			
Building fund	1	000	250
General fund	8	125	9246
Interest		_	1727
EXPENSES		_	_
TOTAL REVENUES	9	125	11223
Surplus/(deficit) for the year			
transferred to Accumulated Funds		_	_
	9	125	11223
			-
Balance She	eet as at 30 June 1986		
ASSETS			
Sundry Debtors — Accrued Interest		_	850
Investments			
Comm. Savings Bank Investment A/c	9	125	9498
Canberra Bldg. Soc. Term Investment		_	10000
TOTAL ASSETS	9	125	20348
Accumulated Funds			
Accumulated Funds Balance at start of year		_	9125
Accumulated Funds Balance at start of year Surplus/(deficit) for the year	9	 125	9125 11223

STUART HARRIS, Hon. Treasurer

We have examined the books and records of The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia (Special Purpose (Appeal) Account) and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In our opinion the above Statement of Receipts and Payments represents a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academy of Social Sciences in Australia (Special Purposes (Appeal) Account) as at 30 June 1986 and of its financial transactions for the year ending on that date.

THE ACADEMY OF THE SOCIAL SCIENCES IN AUSTRALIA AASSREC ACCOUNT

STATEMENT OF REVENUE & EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

1984/		1985/86	
	\$	\$	
REVENUE			
Grants			
UNESCO Paris	2002		
Div'n for Dev't of Social Sciences	2983		_
Regional Participation Program Interest	2320 1521		1103
TOTAL REVENUE	6824	-	1103
EXPENSES			
Publication of proceedings			
5th Biennial Conference	5819		_
National Perspectives Symposium Profile Studies	492 1480		487
Postage	343		662
Sundry expenses	29		4
Printing costs	136		570
TOTAL EXPENSES	8299	-	1723
Surplus/(deficit) for the year transferred to Accumulated Funds	(1475)		(620)
Balance Sheet as at 30	June 1986		
ASSETS			
Bank — Current Account	504		151
Investments Comm. Savings Bank Invest A/c	10477		10074
	10981	-	10225
	====	=	1022)
LIABILITIES			
Creditor — Main Account	136		
TOTAL LIABILITIES	136		_
ACCUMULATED FUNDS		-	
Balance at start of year	12320		10845
C	(1475)		(620)
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		_	
Surplus/(deficit) for the year	10845		10225

STUART HARRIS, Hon. Treasurer

We have examined the books and records of The Academy of the Social Sciences in Australia (AASSREC Account) and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In our opinion the above Statement of Receipts and Payments represents a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academy of Social Sciences in Australia (AASSREC Account) as at 30 June 1986 and of its financial transactions for the year ending on that date.

THE ACADEMIES' AUSTRALIA-CHINA EXCHANGE IN THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

BALANCE SHEET FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

	1984/85		1985/86	
	\$		\$	
ASSETS				
Bank Current Account	10545		18657	
Sundry debtors accrued interest	_		579	
***************************************		10545		19236
Investments				
Savings investment a/c	22783		2970	
Civic Advance Bank	_		21550	
		22783		24520
TOTAL ASSETS		33328		43756
ACCUMULATED FUNDS				
Balance at start of year		37216		33328
Surplus/(deficit) for the year		(3888)		10428
Balance at end of year		33328		43756

DON RAWSON, Secretary

We have examined the books and records of The Academies' Australia-China Exchange in the Humanities and Social Science and have obtained all the information and explanations that we required. In my opinion the above Statement of Receipts and Payments represents a true and fair view of the financial position of The Academies' Australia-China Exchange in the Humanities and Social Sciences as at 30 June 1986 and of its cash transactions for the year ending on that date.

THE ACADEMIES' AUSTRALIA-CHINA EXCHANGE IN THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

STATEMENT OF REVENUE & EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 1986

		1984/85 \$		1985/86	
REVENUE					
Australian Government Grant			35860		37810
Interest			2441		2051
Accrued Interest			_		579
TOTAL REVENUE			38301		40440
EXPENSES			-		A Intelligence
Administration					
Contributions for administration					
ASSA		2000		5000	
AAH		2000		5000	
Advertising		336		352	
Committee meetings		559		duni a n	
Hospitality		_		38	
Stationery		74		A 20 1115	
Audit		50		50	
Postage and cables		333		176	
Bank charges		43		16	
Sundry expenses		31		-	
			5466		10632
Chinese Scholars			19646		14220
Australian Scholars			15748		4701
Interpreters and Liaison			1329		459
TOTAL EXPENSES			42189		30012
Surplus/(deficit) for the year					
transferred to Accumulated Funds	3		(3888)		10428

